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INTRODUCTION

This report details the results of a National Register of Historic Places assessment
conducted by Fever River Research on a gambrel-roofed, transverse-frame barn located at Trail
of Tears State Forest in western Union County, Illinois (see Figure 1). Referred to as the “White
Barn”, this structure is the only extant building that remains in situ’ at the site of a farmstead that
operated during the period ca. 1870-1929. The barn itself was constructed during the early
twentieth century and thus dates to the later stage of the farm’s operation. The investigation of
the White Barn was requested by the Illinois Department of Natural Resources and involved the
following tasks: 1) documentary research on the barn and associated land; 2) a physica
examination of the structure in order to assess its age, evolution, and integrity; and 3) a
windshield survey of comparative barns in the surrounding area —all of which was necessary to
assess the barn’s potential National Register of Historic Places eligibility. The area of Union
County in which the barn is located is an extension of the rugged Ozark Hills, a region that is
characterized by steep, heavily dissected ridges, narrow hollows, and thick forests. The ridges
rise 300 to 400 feet above the wide Mississippi River floodplain, which borders them to the west.
Historically, this region represented margina agricultural land and was sparsely populated
during the nineteenth century. Between 1929 and 1933 much of the Ozark Hills in Union
County was purchased by the State of Illinois and the United States and has since been conserved
as state and national forest.

LA house associated with the barn was sold by the State of Illinois and relocated a couple of miles to the east during
the middle 1980s. This dwelling will be discussed in more detail below.
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Figurel. United States Geological Survey map showing thelocation of the White Barn in
Trail of Tears State Forest (USGS, Jonesboro Quadrangle 1990).



HISTORICAL CONTEXT

Euro-American settlement in what is now Union County began around the year 1809.
Settlers no doubt had moved through the limits of the county prior to this date but had been
drawn into the less rugged country in nearby Randolph, Monroe, St. Clair, and Madison
Counties, which border the Mississippi River to the north of Union. The magjority of the earlier
settlers in the county were southerners who hailed from the Carolinas, Tennessee, and Kentucky
(Perrin 1881:353, 410-11, 415). Union County was formally organized on January 2, 1818. It
was comprised of nine full congressiona townships and three fractional townships that were
segmented by the Mississippi. On March 2, 1818, the town of Jonesboro was laid out to serve as
the county seat. Jonesboro occupied an elevation position near the center of the county and
approximately ten miles east of the Mississippi River. Commercial growth in the county was
fairly limited prior to the 1850s on account of the rugged terrain and limited transportation
network found there. Goods moved into and out of the county primarily by way of the
Mississippi River. At least two steamboat landings were established in the county (Williams
Landing and Sessions Landing), but neither one ever developed beyond a hamlet probably due to
their exposed position on the low-lying Mississippi floodplain (Lake 1881; Perrin 1883:336).
Jonesboro represented the principal commercial center in the county until the 1850s, when it
began to be rivaled by the neighboring town of Anna. Anna was platted adjacent to the Illinois
Central Railroad, only one mile east of the county seat, in 1854. Jonesboro apparently had had
the opportunity to have the Illinois Central pass through it, but its city fathers inexplicably had
failed to arrange the required survey. Jonesboro merchant Winstead Davie seized upon their
oversight and surveyed the route of the railroad through land he owned east of town. Davie
chose the name “Anna’ in honor of his wife (lllinois State Historical Society). The Illinois
Central began service through Union County during the summer of 1854. Aside from Anna, the
towns of Cobden and Dongola eventually developed along the route of the Illinois Central. In
1875, a second railroad —the Cairo and St. Louis Narrow Gauge Railroad—started service
through Union County. The Cairo and St. Louis ran roughly paralé to, and several miles west
of, the Illinois Central and serviced Jonesboro directly. A number of small communities were
established along this railroad; these included the towns of Mountain Glen and Alto Pass, which
were located north of Jonesboro, and Springville and Mill Creek, located farther south (Parks
1983; Perrin 413-14; Lake 1881) (see Figure 2).

The introduction of rail service completely refigured Union County’s exchange network,
directing it away from the Mississippi River and New Orleans northward to Chicago and St.
Louis. The lllinois Central was particularly instrumental in the development of a commercial
fruit and vegetable industry in the county, starting in the late 1850s (Perrin 1883:336; Anna
Centennial Committee 1954:37-8). The weather and soils in the county proved to be ideal for
the production of a wide range of fruits and vegetables, including apples, peaches, pears,
strawberries, blackberries, raspberries, beans, tomatoes, peas, and cucumbers. These products
found aready market in the rapidly growing cities of Chicago and St. Louis. Orchard production
also proved advantageous to Union County farmers, in that it allowed them to utilize hillsides
that would have proven unsuitable for row crops due to erosion. The county’s fruit and
vegetable industry continued to grow through the second half of the nineteenth century and into
the twentieth century. Cobden served as the principal shipping center, and as late as the 1950s



the town could claim to have shipped more tomatoes annually than any other point in the United
States. Horticulture remains a significant part of Union County’s economy today (Perrin
1883:334-352; Leonard n.d.:81-6; Anna Centennial Committee 1954:37-9; Parks 1983:1322-6).

Another local industry spurred by Union County’s natural geography was lumber
production. The county was largely covered by timber at the time of Euro-American settlement,
and it remained so well into the nineteenth century. The rugged Ozark Hills, in particular, had
extensive timber growth. As of 1875, there were at least two sawmills operating in the vicinity
of present-day Trail-of-Tears State Forest. One of these was located one-half mile east of
Canedy Creek and was operated by Samuel W. Bryant. The other mill was located along Clear
Creek, where it entered the Mississippi River floodplain, and operated by Bell and Messner
(Lake 1875). Besides being used for building construction and domestic fuel consumption, the
timber was cut to provide cordwood for the railroads and for the manufacture of fruit crates.
Commercia lumber production peaked during the 1920s, when there were thirty-two sawmills
operating in Union County. The industry declined after 1929, however, due to falling prices and
the wide-scale conservation of the county’s remaining timber reserves by the state and federal
governments (Leonard n.d. 95).



